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A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Steven Hesselgrave, appellant below, petitions this Court to grant 

review of the unpublished opinion of the court of appeals designated in 

section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2) and (3), Petitioner seeks review of 

the unpublished decision of the court of appeals, Division Two, in State v. 

Hesselgrave, _ Wn. App. _, _ P.3d _ (2014 WL 5480364), filed 

October 29, 2014, as amended upon denial of motions for reconsideration 

brought by both the prosecution and the defense, on January 21, 2015. 1 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Where there is no physical evidence and thus credibility is 
the sole issue in the case, can a violation of the defendant's 
rights to full cross-examination of the complaining witness 
and her mother about motive, memory and prior 
inconsistent statements ever be deemed "constitutional 
harmless error" under State v. Guloy, 104 Wn.2d 412, 425, 
705 P.2d 1182 (1985), cert. denied sub nom, Washington v. 
Guloy, 475 U.S. 1020 (1986)? 

2. In State v. Thomas, 142 Wn. App. 589, 174 P.3d 1264 
(2008), State v. Guttierez, 50 Wn. App. 583, 749 P.2d 213, 
review denied, 110 Wn.2d 1032 (1988), and State v. 
Pederson, 44 Wn. App. 391, 722 P.2d 127 (1986), the 
courts of appeals held that, where credibility is the central 
issue at trial and there is constitutional error which could 
have affected the jury's credibility determination, the Guloy 
standard for constitutional harmless error cannot be met 
because a reviewing court cannot conclude, beyond a 
reasonable doubt, that every reasonable jury would have 
convicted absent the error, due to the nature of credibility 
evidence. 

Does the decision in this case conflict with those decisions 

1 A copy of the Ruling and Opinion is filed herewith as Appendix A (hereinafter "App. 
A"). 



and should this Court grant review to resolve the conflict? 

3. Can a limitation on the scope of cross-examination of the 
complaining witness and her supporting witness mother be 
deemed "constitutional harmless error," given the broad 
rights of the defendant to confrontation set forth in Davis v. 
Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 315-18,94 S. Ct. 1105, 39 L. E. 2d 
347 (1974), and the holdings in Olden v. Kentucky, 488 
U.S. 227, 109 S. Ct. 480, 102 L. Ed. 2d 513 (1988), and 
Delaware v. VanArsdall, 475 U.S. 673, 106 S. Ct. 1431, 89 
L. Ed. 2d 67 4 ( 1986), that a violation of the right to 
confrontation by failure to allow full impeachment of a 
witness whose credibility is crucial cannot be "harmless" if 
a "reasonable jury might have received a significantly 
different impression" of the witness' credibility absent the 
error? 

4. Under State v. Darden, 145 Wn.2d 612,620,41 P.3d 1189 
(2002), the state and federal rights to present a defense 
compel admission of all evidence of high probative value 
and there is essentially no governmental purpose which can 
justify its exclusion. Should review be granted to address 
whether impeachment of the victim with her prior 
declarations regarding the crime, her motive for making up 
the claim and her previous changing claims against another 
also accused of abusing her is evidence of "high probative 
value" when there is no physical evidence and the only 
issue at trial was credibility? 

Further, should review be granted to address whether 
impeachment of the complaining witness' mother with 
evidence directly relevant to her motive to encourage 
fabrication so she could get custody is evidence of 
such "high probative value" when the mother, formerly 
married to Petitioner, was involved in urging the case 
against him? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural facts 

Petitioner Steven Hesselgrave was charged by amended 

information in Pierce County with and convicted after jury trial in 2012 of 

first-degree rape of a child, alleged to be a "domestic violence" incident. 

CP 46; RCW 9A.44.073; RCW 10.99.020. He was convicted after a jury 
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trial in Pierce County and appealed to Division Two of the court of 

appeals. Sec App. A at 1-2. On October 29, 2014, the court affirmed in 

an unpublished decision. App. A. On January 20, 2015, the court denied 

motions for reconsideration filed by both parties, amending its opinion 

slightly. See App. A. This Petition follows. 

2. Overview of facts relating to charge 

Mr. Hesselgrave was convicted of first degree rape of a child based 

solely upon the word of the alleged victim, S.L, his stepdaughter with 

whom he lived, with others, for about 9 months. The claims were raised 

after, in autumn of 2010, then 8 Y2 -year old S.L. and her mom, Leona 

Ling, were living at a hotel and Ling allowed a man named Kevin Palfrey, 

a registered sex offender, take care of S.L. when Ling was away. 4RP 322, 

616. Palfrey was arrested in the hotel with S.L. in October of2010, and, 

by the time of trial in this case, was saying Palfrey had touched her on her 

"vagina and butt" and had made her watch people have sex on TV in the 

hotel room. 4RP 342. 

During investigation of Palfrey, S.L. went through many interviews 

with police and others and went into counseling. 4RP 323, 605-509, 615-

81. During the entire time she was involved in counseling, S.L. never said 

anything about Mr. Hesselgrave doing anything improper, even when 

asked specifically about the individual family members, friends, teachers 

and others in her life and asked whether they were touching her "safe or 

not safe." 4RP 620. By the of counseling, S.L. was doing fine, not having 

trouble sleeping or having anxiety. 4RP 323. 

Several months later, on a bus, a child who was ll by the time of 
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trial said that S.L. said something about Hesselgrave's penis tasting like 

mint or something like that, so authorities were involved. 4RP 498. In an 

interview with CPS, S.L. was asked why she was there and responded that 

it was about the rape by Palfrey. 4RP 678. When told she was there to 

talk about anyone else, S.L. identified Hesselgrave and said something 

about watching a video involving a naked girl and an elephant online. 

4RP 678-80. She claimed they had sex once when she was six years old 

and that his penis was nearly a foot long. 4RP 72, 308, 312. She changed 

her story about who would sleep in the same bed at the time and said that, 

at one point during the incident, he had put his penis in her bottom from 

behind while standing up behind her while she was at the bathroom sink. 

4RP 330. She also described vaginal sex and looking at the video of the 

elephant and some magazines of naked woman during that same, single 

incident. 4RP 320. 

S.L. also testified at trial that, this same night, Hesselgrave had 

woken up her 3-4 year old younger brother and made S.L. perform oral sex 

on the boy. 4RP 321. According to S.L., Hesselgrave told her to bite 

down hard, so she did. 4RP 321. That brother testified that it never 

happened. 4RP 730-35. A CPS worker admitted that they had discussed 

the younger boy and S.L. had not made any claims of such abuse at any 

time. 4RP 687. Instead, this allegation came up for the first time after 

trial began. 2RP 131. 

Other changes in S.L. 's version of events included that she first 

told police it happened when she lived with Hesselgrave at his home but 

by trial, it was a different time, when he babysat her while her mom went 

4 



• 

to a party. 4RP 325-36. S.L. 's mom never noticed any complaints in 

S.L.'s demeanor during those times and specifically remembered the child 

saying she "had a blast" the night he babysat. 4RP 416. 

S.L. admitted she wanted to live her mom, missed her younger 

brothers who lived with them and knew that if Hesselgrave "went away to 

jail or something like that," it would be easier for her to live with her 

brothers. 4RP 337. She admitted knowing that it would be easier, prior to 

making the first disclosure. Ling admitted she wanted to move to New 

York with S.L. and the kids but Hesselgrave would not allow it because he 

found out Ling was going to take the boys and try to start a new life 

without him there. 4RP 420-44. At trial, Ling was caught several times 

downplaying her plans to move but she had actually unenrolled S.L. from 

school at one point and told people they were moving to New York. 4RP 

523-26. Ling had restrictions on seeing the boys herself. 4RP 397-401. 

On the day Hesselgrave was arrested, he had found about the 

allegations and was mad, threatening to leave with the kids, so she called 

police and reported "kidnapping." 4RP 431. Although she told the police 

she had joint custody, actually it was Hesselgrave who had full custody. 

4RP 431. 

At trial, Hesselgrave emphatically denied any improper acts against 

S.L., saying she perhaps might have seen him naked sometime when he 

got out of the shower or might have seen him masturbating to porn some 

time if she woke up and he was in the same room. 4RP 562. 

There was no physical evidence of abuse and the only claims came 

from the disclosure of S.L. years after the alleged act, either through her 
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testimony or through repeat of what she told others during the 

investigation. 

3. Facts relevant to issues presented 

At trial, Mr. Hesselgrave's counsel tried to cross-examine S.L. 

about her pretrial defense interview, in which S.L. had made different 

claims about what had happened not only with Hesselgrave but with 

Palfrey, the registered sex offender who had previously also been accused 

of abusing S.L. 4RP 332-34. Hesselgrave was prevented from showing 

that S.L. 's claims of sexual abuse had changed drastically over time with 

Palfrey about what S.L. said had happened, which was the same thing that 

he said was happening in this case. 4RP 437. 

Counsel was also not allowed to ask S.L. about what she said in a 

defense interview about not remembering anything happening with 

Hesselgrave and remembering nothing about the incident at all, in contrast 

with her testimony at the later trial detailing what she said happened. 4RP 

751-53. He was not allowed to ask her or a defense witness about S.L.'s 

repeated statements that she did not remember what had happened with 

Hesselgrave. He was not allowed to about her declarations at that 

interview that she had not talked to certain people about the incident, even 

though at trial those people said they had talked to her. He was not 

allowed to ask about her having said she had never talked to anyone about 

being touched in an improper way in that interview. He was not allowed 

to ask about her saying she had never told anyone that Hesselgrave's penis 

taste<;! like mint, did not remember ever seeing a movie with naked people 

and other details she suddenly recalled in detail at trial. 4RP 852-65. 
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In addition, counsel was not allowed to ask S.L. about S.L. 's 

statements that she really wanted to live with her brothers and her mom, 

that it would be easier ifHesselgrave was gone, that it would be easier for 

her to get to live with her mom as she wanted ifHesselgrave went to 

prison, and her fears that if she said something different than her claims of 

abuse she would not be allowed to live with her mom. 4RP 864. 

Regarding S.L.'s mother, Ling, while Hesselgrave was allowed to 

introduce evidence that the relationship with Ling was not great, he was 

not allowed to admit evidence from the divorce which would have shown 

there were concerns about "a long-term emotional impairment which 

interferes with the performance of parenting functions and long-term 

substance abuse that interviews with the performance of parenting," and 

evidence that the mom had unlawfully withheld the children from 

Hesselgrave for a long period of time. 4RP 361-62. 

After the mom tried to claim at trial that she had joint custody, the 

trial court allowed Hesselgrave only to introduce evidence showing that 

he, in fact, had sole custody. 4RP 367-69. 

On appeal, Mr. Hesselgrave argued, inter alia, that the trial court 

had violated his rights to present a defense and meaningful cross­

examination and impeachment. Brief of Appellant ("BOA" at 1, 2, 17-

36). In an unpublished decision issued October 29, 2014, Division Two of 

the court of appeals found, inter alia, that there was a violation of 

Hesselgrave's rights to cross-examination but that the error was 

constitutionally "harmless." App. A at 2. The prosecution filed a motion 

to reconsider, arguing that the court of appeals had erred in holding that 
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there was a violation of Hesselgrave' s rights to confrontation at all. 

Motion of Prosecutor ("Mop") at 1-4. 

Hesselgrave's motion for reconsideration argued that the court of 

appeals had erred in applying an improper standard for constitutional 

harmless error, because it had declared that "Hesselgrave cannot show that 

a reasonable jury would have reached a different result had he been able to 

continue questioning S.L.," rather than the standard for "constitutional 

harmless error" set forth in Guloy. Petitioner's Motion to Reconsider, at 

2-8. 

In the Order Amending Opinion and Denying Motion to 

Reconsider, Division Two denied both parties' motions and then changed 

the language cited above in two places to reflect the proper standard and 

declare that "we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any 

reasonable jury would have reached the same result had Hesselgrave been 

able to continue questioning S.L. without constraint." App. A at 1. 

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

THE COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW TO ADDRESS 
WHETHER CONSTITUTIONAL ERROR IN DENYING A 
DEFENDANT FULL CROSS-EXAMINATION ON 
CREDIBILITY AND HIS RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE 
CAN BE "HARMLESS" UNDER GULOY WHERE 
CREDIBILITY IS THE SOLE ISSUE IN THE CASE AND 
THERE IS NO PHYSICAL EVIDENCE 

Under the state and federal due process clauses, a defendant in a 

criminal case has a fundamental right to present a defense. See State v. 

Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d 1, 15,659 P.2d 51 (1983), limited on other grounds Q.y 

Darden, supra; Rock v. Arkansas, 483 U.S. 44, 53-55, 107 S. Ct. 2704, 97 

L. 2d 37 (1987); Sixth Amend.; Fourteenth Amend.; Art. 1, § 22. Further, 
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both constitutions guarantee the accused the rights to confrontation and 

cross-examination ofwitnesses. See Hudlow, 99 Wn.2d at 14-51; Davis, 

415 U.S. at 315-18; Sixth Amend.; Fourteenth Amend.; Art. 1, §22. 

In this case, this Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), 

(2) and (3), because the decision of Division Two fails to properly apply 

the constitutional harmless error standard of Guloy, conflicts with several 

decisions of the court of appeals and improperly affirmed a conviction 

where the defendant's state and federal constitutional rights to 

confrontation and cross-examination and to present a defense were 

violated. 

First, review should be granted to answer whether constitutional 

error can ever be "harmless" under Guloy where the error is one which 

could have an impact on the jury's ability to determine credibility and the 

sole issue at trial is credibility because the defendant's conviction rests 

completely on the claims of the complaining witness. 

In ruling on this issue, the court of appeals first acknowledged that 

Hesselgrave's rights to confrontation and cross-examination had been 

improperly limited when he had tried to impeach S.L. at trial. App. A at 2-

4. But Division Two held that the error was "harmless" under Guloy, 

simply because Hesselgrave had been allowed to attack S.L.'s credibility 

at least in part, by showing that S .L. 's recollection of events "was at times 

contradictory, if not completely inaccurate," through other witnesses. 

App. A at 9-10. The Court also declared that this left the jury "free to 

decide" that S.L. was not very credible." App. A at 9-10. 
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Initially, in making this ruling, Division Two applied a burden 

upon Hesse/grave, holding that the constitutional error was "harmless" 

because "Hesselgrave cannot show that a reasonable jury would have 

reached a different result had he been able to continue questioning" A.L. 

App. A at 9-10. After Hesselgrave 's motion pointed out that Guloy 

mandates a presumption of reversal, that the burden is on the prosecution, 

and that constitutional error only harmless if the reviewing court is 

convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that every reasonable jury would 

necessarily have convicted even absent the error, the court of appeals 

amended the quoted language and declared it was instead "convinced 

beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached 

the same result had Hessel grave been able to continue questioning of S.L. 

without constraint." App. A at 9-10. 

In reaching its conclusion, the court of appeals relied on the belief 

that it was proper to find this constitutional error harmless because there 

was some impeachment allowed and because Hesselgrave was allowed to 

attack S.L. 's credibility somewhat through other witnesses in ways that left 

the jury "free to decide that such inconsistencies rendered S.L.'s testimony 

unreliable and her credibility suspect." App. A at 9-10. 

This Court should grant review to determine whether the Guloy 

standard of constitutional harmless error is met when the one issue is 

credibility of the victim and the constitutional error limited impeachment 

of that victim even though her claims were the sole source of evidence 

supporting the conviction. Division Two cited absolutely no caselaw 

establishing that the Guloy standard is met when there is a violation of the 
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right to meaningful cross-examination because at least some impeachment 

was allowed, let alone a case so holding where the credibility of the 

relevant witness was the only issue at trial and her claims the only 

evidence. App. A at 9-10. Nor did it cite a single case holding that the 

rights to meaningful cross-examination and confrontation of a witness are 

satisfied if impeachment evidence on similar issues is admitted through 

other witnesses. App. A at 9-10. 

The question in determining constitutional harmless error, 

however, is whether the error is "so insignificant as to be harmless," trivial 

or merely a matter of form. See Guloy, 104 Wn.2d at 425. This Court 

should grant review to address whether an error in limiting cross­

examination of the only witness against the defendant and her 

corroborating mother can meet those standards, given that the U.S. 

Supreme Court has unequivocally declared "broad" rights to confrontation 

of crucial witnesses with any issue of bias, motive, credibility or other 

impeachment. See Davis, 415 U.S. at 315-17. 

Further, other of our state's courts of appeals have rejected the idea 

that constitutional error may be deemed "harmless" under application of 

the Guloy standard when the case depends upon credibility and the error 

could have affected the jury's decision on that point, even where there was 

"strong" evidence of guilt. See Guttierez, 50 Wn. App. at 585-87 

("[b ]ecause credibility determinations cannot be duplicated by a review of 

the written record" in cases where the defense is not "facially 

unbelievable," a reviewing court cannot say a violation which could affect 

such a determination is "constitutionally harmless" when credibility is at 
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issue); see Pederson, 44 Wn. App. at 394 (where prosecutor argued the 

central issue was credibility); see also Thomas, 142 Wn. App. at 589-99 

(cannot find that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result 

absent the error when there are credibility questions and the error could 

have affected the jury's evaluation of them). 

This Court should grant review under RAP 13.4(b)(2) to determine 

whether those courts were correct and the Guloy standard cannot be met 

where credibility is at issue, especially under the facts of this case. 

In addition, this Court should grant review to address the effects of 

Olden and VanArsdall on the Guloy standard. In those cases, the U.S. 

Supreme Court focused on whether credibility is an issue in the case and 

whether the constitutional error claimed to be "harmless" beyond a 

reasonable doubt could have affected that issue, concluding that reversal is 

required for exclusion of such evidence if a reasonable jury "might have 

received a significantly different impression" of credibility, the testimony 

of the witness was crucial to the state's case and the evidence came largely 

from that witness, thus was "far from overwhelming." Olden, 488 U.S. at 

232; see VanArsdall, 475 U.S. at 684. IfDivision Two's application of 

Guloy is correct, then Guloy is not in line with the federal requirements for 

constitutional harmless error under Olden and VanArsdall. This Court 

should grant review to address that issue. 

Notably, at least one federal court looking at the issue has held that 

the same constitutional harmless error standard set forth in Guloy is not 

met when cross-examination of a crucial witness is limited even if there 

was some impeachment and the state courts concluded that the jury had 

12 
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"sufficient information to assess ... credibility." Wenlot v. Armonstrout, 

948 F.2d 497, 499-500 (81
h Cir. 1991). The Wcnlot Court first noted that 

limitation on cross-examination can only occur if that examination is for 

purposes of harassing, or the inquiry would be prejudicial, confusing or is 

on a collateral matter, but that impeachment of a crucial witness is never 

collateral. 948 F.2d at 499-400. The Court then looked at Olden and 

VanArsdall, noting that, where there is exclusion of relevant impeachment, 

the question on review for constitutional harmless error for failure to allow 

full impeachment requires looking at whether "a reasonable jury might 

have received a significantly different impression of'' the witness' 

credibility ifthe questioning had been allowed. Wenlot, 948 F.2d at 500. 

This Court should grant review. The court of appeals decision did 

not properly apply and thus runs afoul of the "constitutional harmless 

error" standard set forth in Guloy. The decision conflicts with other 

decisions of the court of appeals and appears to also conflict with the 

holdings in VanArsdall and Olden. In addition, because the court of 

appeals erroneously decided t~is issue, it also improperly decided that the 

exclusion ofthe evidence of impeachment in this case did not also violate 

Mr. Hesselgrave's rights to present a defense. Under these circumstances, 

the exclusion of the evidence of impeachment, of inconsistent statements 

about the crime itselfby the complaining witness, the motives of the 

mother to encourage a fabrication and all of the other excluded 

impeachment was not just a violation of Mr. Hesselgrave's rights to 

confrontation, as the court of appeals properly held, but a violation of his 

rights to present a defense, as well. This Court should grant review. 
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F. CONCLUSION 

This Court should grant review to address the proper scope and 

application ofthe constitutional harmless error standard set forth in Guloy, 

and decide whether that standard can be met where the sole evidence 

supporting the conviction is the claim of the complaining witness and the 

defendant was prevented from fully cross-examining her about her version 

of the events, prior statements about the events and her motive, and her 

mother about her motives, as well . 
. 

DATED this 20th day of February 2015. 

Respectfully submitted, 

/s/ Kathryn Russell Selk 
KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 
RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 
Post Office Box 31 0 1 7 
Seattle, Washington 98103 
(206) 782-3353 
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Court's email and to Mr. Hesselgrave, DOC 361157, Monroe CC, P.O. Box 
777, Monroe, WA. 98272. 

DATED this 20th day of February, 2015. 
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/s/ Kathryn Russell Selk 
KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 
Attorney for Petitioner 
RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 
Post Office Box 31 0 1 7 
Seattle, Washington 98103 
(206) 782-3353 
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.'FILED 
COURT OF APPEALS 

DIVISION [. . 

2fll5 J. N 2 

BY--i-=~'-+-­PUT 
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTO 

DIVISION D 

STATE OF WASHINGTON, No. 44177-2-II 

Respondent, 

v. 
I 

STEVEN L. HESSELGRA VE, ORDER AMENDING OPINION AND 
DENYING MOTION TO RECONSIDER 

A elhmt. 

Appellants have filed a motion asking the court to reconsider its unpublished opinion filed 

on October 29, 2014. Having considered the motion and supporting materials, the court now orders 

as follows: 

(1) The first sentence on page 9 is amendedto read as follows: 

But error is harmless '"if we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any 
reasonable jury would have reached the same result without the error."' Jones, 168 
Wn.2d at 724 (quoting Smith, 148 Wn.2d at 139). 

(2) The first paragraph on page 10 is amended to read as follows: 

Accordingly, the trial court's ruling limiting Hesselgrave's ability to 
impeach S.L. was harmless. Hesselgrave was able to attack S.L.'s credibility by 
showing the jury, through defense witnesses, that S.L. 's recollection of the events 
was at times contradictory, if not completely inaccurate. The jury was free to 
decide that. such inconsistencies rendered S.L.'s testimony unreliable and her 
credibility suspect. Consequently, we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt 
that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result had Hesselgrave been 
able to continue questioning S.L. without constraint. Thus, although the trial court 
arguably limited Hesselgrave's ability to conduct cross-examination, we hold that 
any error was harmless. This error did not prevent Hesselgrave from presenting his 
defense.9 
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(3) In all other respects the motion for reconsideration is denied. 

IT IS SO ORDERED. 

DATED this ~day of--=wj...:...f(N=----..;lt{:;..;..P®f""""--":...r------'' 2015. 

We concur: 

~~-
MELNICK, J. J 

_fij__it., -t-f!Lz:__ 
HUNT,J.P.y 
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~ondition number 13, remand to clarify condition 16, and remand to strike condition number 25., 

We affirm the conviction and remand to correct the community custody conditions. 

FACTS 

I. BACKGROUND 

In 2011, S.L. was an eight~year~old fe~ale student attending elementary school. 

.. . 
Hesselgrave is S.L. 's former step-father. One May afternoon, S.L. disclosed sexual abuse by her 

step-father. Laurel Powell, the school counselor, reported the matter to Child Protective Services 

(CPS). CPS social worker Christine Murillo conducted a "safety interview" with S.L. on May 17, 

during which S.L. disclosed sexual abuse by her stepfathel,". On May 25, Cornelia Thomas, an 

employee of the Child Advocacy Center in Pierce County, conducted a forensic interview with 

S.L. S.L. made several detailed disclosures to Thomas that involved alle~ations of oral, vaginal, · 

and anal intercourse. S.L .. testified consistently with these disclosures at trial. According to 

.Thomas, S .L. maintained sufficient memory to have an independent recollection of the occurrence, 

S.L.'s statements describing the incident appeared_ to be based on her perception, s·.L. 

communicated "quite well," and S.L. was able to distinguish truth from lies. 6 Report of 

Proceedings CRJ:>) at 677. 

On the night of the incident,·Hesselgrave also showed S.L. magazines depicting naked· 

women, in addition to a video on his computer which featured an eiephant touching a woman's 
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·vagina. S.L. declared that on the same night, Hesseigrave woke up her brother, J.H.,1 told him to 

take off his clothes, and instructed S.L. to bite J.H's penis, a request with which S.L. complied.2 

On June 2, Detectives Jennifer Quilio and Brad Graham interviewed Hesselgrave at police 

headquarters. When asked if there was any reason that S.L. may have seen his penis, Hesselgrave 

responded that it was possible because he watched pornography at night in the living area of his 
. . 

. . 
apartment when he thought the children were sleeping. Hesselgrave surmised that S.L. could have 

woken up and inadvertently seen him masturbating. Aware of S.L. 's allegations, Detective Quilio 

asked Hesselgrave whether he viewed pornography that contained images of animals and women 

engaging in sexual acts. Hesselgrave admitted that he did, but claimed that he had never seen a 

.video involving an elephant. Hesselgrave denied any sexual contact with S.L. 

The day after his police interview, Hesselgrave told Leona Ling,3 S.L. 'smother, that she 

would never see him again and that he was leaving with their sons. Ling then called 911 to report 

what she believed to be an imminent kidnapping. Patrol officers arrested_ Hesselgrave. The State 

charged Hesselgrave with first degree rape of a child con:tJ:ary to RCW 9A.44.073.4 

1 J.H. is S.L. 'shalf-brother and Hesselgrave's biological son. J.H. would hav:e been either five or 
six at the time ofthe alleged abuse. · 

2 J.H. testified that he had no recollection of this incident. 

3 Ling is also the mother ofHesselgrave's two sons. 

4 RCW 9A.44.073 provides, 
(1) A person is guilty of rape of a child in the first degree when the person has 
sexual intercourse with another who is less than twelve years old and not married 
to the perpetrator and the perpetrator is at least twenty-four months older than the 
victim. 

(2) Rape of a child in the first degree is.a class A felony. 

3 
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II. PROCEDURE 

A. PRETRIAL MOTIONS . 

Before tri~, the coUrt held a hearing to addr.ess Hesselgrave's challenge regarding S.L's 

competence to testify. The State called numerous witnesses including Murillo, Thomas, S.L, and 

others. The trial court also admitted and publiShed the digital video disc recording of S.L's 

interview .with Thomas. 

At the hearing, Hesselgrave argued that S.L. failed to show that she had an independent 

mem~ry of the incident and that she had difficulty. distinguishing truth from lie because she did 

not understand the concept of a mistake. The trial comt considered the timing of the incident in 

addition to the Allen5 factors and found that Hesselgrave had failed to overc~me the presumption 

that S.L. was competent to. testify. 

Also before t;rial, the State moved to admit S.L. 's statements to Thomas, Murillo, and the 

classmates to whom she made the initial disclosures under RCW 9A.44.120, the child hearsay 

statute. The court considered the Ryan6 factors and determined that S .L.' s statements were 

admissible provided that S.L. also testified. 

B. TRIAL 

At trial, duririg cross-examination of S.L., Hesselgrave asked S.L. about a pretrial defense 

interview of S.L. conducted by defense counsel and investigator Julie Armijo, 'but S.L. testified 

.that she had no recollection of such an interview. Hesse.lgrave then asked a series of additional 

5 State v. Allen, 70 Wn.2d 690,424 P.2d 1021 (1967). 

·6 State v. Ryan, 103 Wn.2d 165, 691 P.2d 197 (1984). 

4 



I 

J 

No. 44177-2-II 

questions attempting to highlight S .L. 's in~onsistent recitations of the incident. S .L. denied having 

made such inconsistent statements. Hesselgrave continued with this line of questioning, but the 

State began to object, arguing that the questions were cumulative, asked and answered, and "[ER] 

613." 3 RP at 349. Hesselgrave argued that he was attempting to impeach S.L., but the court 

sustained the objections. Hesselgrave finished cross-examination, but reserved the· right to recall 

S.L. 
. . 

Later, during direct examination of Annijo, Hesselgrave asked a series of similar questions, 

again·attempting to demonstrate that S .L. 's responses during the defense interview were frequently 

inconsistentwith.S.L.'s trial testimony. After several ofthese questions were answered, the State 

again objected, citing improper impeachment and improper questioning. 

Outside the jury's presence, the parties argued as to whether S.L.'s interview responses 

. were inconsistent with her trial testimony. The court agreed that the interview transcript contained 

inconsistencies, but neverthele~s sustained the State's objection, noting that under ER 613(b),. 

extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by a witness is. not admissible· unless the 

witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the opposite party is afforded 

an opportunity to interrogate the witness thereon. The court found that requirement unmet and 

ruled that Hesselgrave was not allowed to ask additional questions of Armijo from S.L.'s interview 

transcript. 

B;esselgrave argued that the opportunity to explain did not have to occur prior to the 

introduction ofthe extrinsic evidence. ·Defense counsel then sought to recall S.L. The trial court 

.said it would allow a few questions, but it.placed limitations on the subject matter of the questions 

Hesselgrave could ask. Hesselgrave objected to this limitation on his right to cross-examination 
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"of the only witness in this case." 7 RP at 782. Hesselgrave later recalled both S.L. and Amrijo, 

but asked few questions of either witness, citing constraint by the court's earlier ruling. 

Again, outside the jury's presence, Hesselgrave sought to admit documents related to 

divorce proceedings between himself and Ling, which he argued supported Hesselgrave's theory 
. . 

that Ling prompted S.L. to make false accusations oecause Ling was unhappy with the terms of 

the divorce. The trial court allowed some limited. questioning of Ling on this topic, but it refused 
. . 

to admit the documents because they contained. prejudicial, irrelevant information about Ling's 

history of substance abuse. 

In closing argument, the State contended that, in its view, there were only three possibilities 

in the case. The prosecutor said, 

So here's what it really comes down to in this case. There's three possibilities for 
what happened: Someone coached [S.L.]; [S.L.] made it up on her own, or she is 
telling the truth. That's it. 

7 RP at 938. The State also utilized a ''Power Point" slide, which displayed these three "options" 

ordered numerically. Hesselgrave objected, citing improper argument, but the court overruled. In 

rebuttal closing; the prosecutor said that "it can't be explained through coaching or planning/' an 

argument that also drew Hesselgrave's objection on grounds that it constituted "burden shifting." 

7 RP at 975. This objection Was also overruled. Hesselgrave was convicted as charged. 

At sentencing, in addition to incarceration, the court imposed community custody along 

with certain associated conditions, including the following: 

13. You shall not-possess or consume any controlled substances without a valid 
prescription from a licensed physician. 

16. . .. Do not have any contact with physically or mentally vulnerable 
individuals. 

< , 6 
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25. Do not possess or peruse any sexually explicit materials in any medium. 
Your sexual deviance treatment provider will define sexually explicit 
material. Do not patronize prostitutes or establishments that promote the 
commerci~ization of sex. Also, do not possess or use any c~ll phone that 
may provide access to the Internet as well. 

Clerk's Papers (CP) at 243-44. Hesselgj:ave appeals. 

ANALYSIS 

I. RIGHT TO PRESENT A DEFENSE 

Hesselgrave argues that the State violated his co~titutional right to present a defense when 

the trial court limited his ability to impeach S .1. on cross-examination and when the court excluded 

evidence related to Hesselgrave and Ling's dissolution proceedings. We hold ~at any error 

associated with his right to confrontation and cross-examination was harmless and that the court 

did not err by properly excluding evidence: 

A. "STANDARD OF REVIEW 

"'The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, th~ right to a fair 

opportunity to defend against the State's accusations."' State v. Jones, 168 Wn.2d 713, 720, 230 

P.3d 576 (2010) (quoting Chambers v. Mississippi, 410 U.S. 284, 294, 93 S. Ct. 1038, 35 L. Ed. 

2d 297 (1973)). A defendant's right to an opportunity to be heard ln. his defense, including the 

rights to examine witnesses against him and to offer testi:r;nony, is basic in our system of 

jurisprudence. Chambers, 410 U.S. at 294. "The right to confront and cross-examine adverse 

witnesses is [also] guaranteed 'Qy.both the federal and State constitutions." State v. Darden; 145 

Wn.2d 612,620,41 P.3d 1189 (2002) (citing Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, ~3, 87 S. Ct. 1920, 

.18-L. Ed .. 2d 1019 (1967)). Or~ily, we review a trial court's decis~on to limit cross-examination . . 

of a witness. for impeachment purposes for abuse of discretion. State v. Aguirre, 168 Wn.2d 350, 
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361-62,229 P.3d 669 (2010). But a court "'necessarily abuses its discretion by denying a criminal 

·defendant's constitutional rights."' State ·v. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d 273, 280, 217 P.3d 768 (2009) 

(quoting State v. Perez, 137 Wn. App. 97, 105, 151 P.3d 249 (2007)). And we review a claim of 

.. a deniat of Sixth Amendment rights de novo. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d at 280-81. Because Hess~lgrave 

argues that the trial court violated his constitutional right to present a defense, our review is de 

novo. Iniguez, 167 Wn.2d at 280-81. Any error, however, is harmless "'if we are co;nvinced 

beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same result without 

the error."' Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 724 (quoting State v. Smith, 148 Wn.2d 122, 139, 59 P.3d 74 

(2002)). 

B. IMPEACHMENT OF S.L. 

ER 613(b) provides, 

(b) Extrinsic Evidence of Prior Inconsistent Statement of Witness. 
Extrinsic evidence of a prior inconsistent statement by.a witness is not a~ssible 
unless the witness is afforded an opportunity to explain or deny the same and the 
opposite party is afforded an opportunity to interrogate the witness thereon, or the 
interests of justic.e otherwise require. '1bis provision does not apply to admissions 
of a party-opponent as defined in rule.801(d)(2). 

Our courts have concluded that under ER 613(b), a witness may be impeached with a prior 

inconsistent statement either before or after the extrinsic evidence is introduced so long as the 

witness being impeached is subject to recall. State v. Horton, 116 Wn. App. 909, ~16, 68 P.3d 

1145 (2003) (citing State v. Johnson, 90 Wn. App. 54, 70, 950 P.2d 981 (1998))·. 

Here, after her cross-examination, Hesselgrave unequivocally reserved the right to recall 

S.L. Thus, the trial court erred in placing limitations on Hesselgrave's ability to impeach S.L. 

solely on grounds that she was not given an opportunity to explain or deny her inconsistent 
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statements during cross·examination.7 But error is not prejudicial unless "'we are convinced 

beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would have reached the same resUlt without 

the error."' Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 724 (quoting Smith, 148 Wn.2d at 139). 

We now look at whether the error was prejudicial. Here, a review of the record reveals 

that answers to several of the most crucial questions that Hesselgrave sought to ask S.L. on recall 

were either elicited from S.L. herself or from other witnesses, namely, Armijo. By way of this 

questioning, Hesselgrave was able to emphasize the fact that S.L. had been· inconsistent in her 

recollection of the events. When Armijo testified, she was questioned about S.L. 's response when 

asked whether she recalled what happened with Hesselgrave. Armijo, reading from the transcript 

of the defense interview, testified that S.L. answered, "'I forgot. It's been like a long time since 

that happened."' 6 RP at 743. Armijo also testified that S.L. answered "no" when asked 

specifically whether S.L. told anyone at school about what happened, generally whether she had 

told anyone what happened with Hesselgrave, whether she had ever made a comment about 

Hesselgrave's penis,8 whether S.L. had seen her dad watching movies with naked people in them, 

· when asked whether she told anyone she was touched in an improper way, and that S.L. answered 

''yes" when asked whether she wanted to live with her brothers and whether Hessel grave going to . . 

jail would make tl;lat easier. 

7 Hesselgrave also argues in the alternative that he received ineffective assistance of counsel to the 
extent that his counsel failed to lay the proper foundation for S .L.' s impeachment. But because 
we determine that the trial co~,. and not Hesselgrave' s counsel, misinterpreted ER 613, we 
conclude· that Hesselgrave's attorney's performance was not deficient and, thus, Hesselgrave's 
ineffective assistance of counsel claim necessarily fails. 

8 S.L. referenced Hesselgrave' s penis during her initial disclosures of abuse. 
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Accordingly, the trial court's ruling limiting Hesselgrave's ability to impeach S.L. was 

harmless. Hesselgrave was able to attack S.L.'s credibility by showing the jury, through defense 

witnesses, that S.L.'s recollection of the events was at times contradictory, if not completely 

inaccurate .. The jury was free to decide that such inconsistencies rendered S.L. 's testimony 

unreliable and her credibility suspect Consequently, Hesselgrave cannot show that a reasonable 

jury would have reached a different result had he been able to continue questioning S.L. Jones, 

168 Wn.2d at 724. Thus, although the trial court arguably limited Hesselgrave' s. ability to conduct 

cross-examination, we hold that any error was harmless. !urther, this error did not prevent 

Hesselgrave ~om presenting his defense. 9 

C. DISSOLUTION PLEADINGS 

Hesselgrave asserts that the .trial court further violated Hesselgrave's rights to present a 

defense by excluding documents related to Hesselgrave's divorce from Ling. We disagree. 

We review de novo whether a trial court's evidentiary ruling violated a defendant's Sixth 

. ' 

Amendment right to present a defense. Jones, 1~8 Wn.2d at 719, The right to' present a defense 

is not absolute. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720. Defendants have a right to present only relevant 

· evidenc.e, with no constituti?nal right to present irre,evant eviderice. Jones, 168 Wn.2d at 720 

(citing State v. Gregory, 158 Wn.2d 759, 786 n.6, 147 P.3d 1201 (2006)). Evidence is relevant 

when ·it has any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the 

9 When Hesse1grav~ recalled S.L., the trial court placed limitations on .the scope of S.L.'s 
questioning. The trial court discussed the limitations after hearing the State's argument that 

· Hesselgrave already had a chance to cross-examine S.L. and that he should not be entitled to call 
her as a witness. In this way, the trial court's ruling was more akin to a ruling in limine than it was 
a limitation ofHesselgrave's right to cross-examine witnesses. 

10 
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determination of the action more probaple or less probable than it would be without the evidence. 

ER401. 

Here, Hesselgrave urged the trial court to admit various documents and findings of fact 

from his dissolution proceedings to show that Ling was unhappy with the parenting plan, custody 

determination, and child support obligation and that, therefore, Ling could have influenced S.L. 's 

disclosures because she had a motive to retaliate. 

The trial court agreed that evidence of Ling's .dissatisfaction with the· dissolution 

proceedings might be relevant to show motive to fabricate allegations. Accordingly, the court 

allowed Hesselgrave to ask Ling questions on cross-examination regarding her dissatisfaction with . 

the parenting plan, custody arrangement, and child support order. Hesselgrave was ·able to elicit 

testimony that Ling wished to change the parenting plan and modify. the child support order to 

reduce her monthly obligation. Thus, the jury was aware of Ling's frustration concerning the 

. arrangement with Hesselgrave and the possibility that she might be vindictive for the same reason. 

But the trial court declined to admit the documents because those documents revealed that 

L~g had a history of emotional impairment, substance abuse, and parenting issues. The trial court 

correctly recognized that admitting findings _that suggest that Ling has a history of ~motional 

impairment and substance abuse would have been irrelevant and unduly prejudicial. 10 Evidence 

of Ling's substance abuse history does ·not have any tendency to make the existence of any fact 

1.0 The court cited ER 404(b )~ which provides, 
Evidenc·e of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character 
of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be 
admissible for . other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, 
preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. 

11 
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that is of consequence to the determination of this action more probable or less probable. ER 401. 

Accordingly, the trial court did not err and its ruling did not violate Hesselgrave's right to present 

a defense. 

ll. CO:MPETENCE TO TESTIFY 

Hesselgrave argues that the trial court abused its discretion in finding S.L. compet~nt to 

testify because (1) her statements were unreliable and (2) there was insufficient corroborating 

evidence to support the conviction. We hold that the trial court did 110t abuse its discretion by 

finding S.L. competent to testify. We hold further that corroboratmg evidence was not required 

because S.L. was not ''unavailable." 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

An appellate. court will not disturb a trial court's conclusion as to the competency of a 

witness to testify except for abuse of discretion. State v. S.J. W., 170 Wn.2d 92, 97, 239 P.3d 568 

(2010) (citing Faust v. Albertson, 167 Wn.2d 531, 545-46,222 P..3d 1208 (2009)). This standard 

pf review is especially applicable to child witnesses because "[t]he competency of a youthful 

witness is not easily reflected in a written record, and [an appellate court] must rely on the triill 

judge who sees the witness, notices the witness's manner, and considers his or her capacity and 

intellige:p.ce." State ·v. Woods, 154 ·wn.2d 613, 617, 114 P.3d 1174 (2005) (citing State v. 

Przybylski, 48 Wn. App. 661, 665, 739 P.2d 1203 (1987)). As our Supreme Court has noted, 
. . 

'"There is probably: no area of law where it is more necessary to place great reliance on the trial 

court's judgme~t than in assessing the competency of a child witness."' ·Woods, 1 54 Wn.2d at 617 

(quoting State v. Borland, 57 Wn. App. 7, 11, 786 P.2d 810, review denied, 114 Wn.2d 1026 

(1990)). 

12 
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Furth~rmore, every person is presumed competent to testify, fucluding children. S.J. W, 

170 Wn.2d at 100. A child's competency is now determined by the trial judge within the 

framework ofRCW 5.60.050, while theAllen11 factors serve to inform the judge's determination. 

S.J. W., 170 Wn.2d at 100. Accordingly, a party challenging the competency of a child witness has 

the burden of rebutting that presumption with evidence indicating that the child is of unsound 
f • 

mind, intoxicated at the time of his production for examination, incapable of receiving, just 

impressions of the facts, or incapable of relating facts truly. RCW 5.60.050. Moreover, 

inconsistencies in a child's testimony do not necessarily call into que~ion witness competency. 

State v. Carlson, 61 Wn. App. 865, 874, 812 P.2d 536 (1991), review denied, 120 Wn.2d 1022 . . . 

(1993). Instead, such inconsistencies generally relate to the witness's credibility and the weight 

to give his or her testimony. Carlson, 61. Wn. App. at 874 (citing State v. Sta~ge, 53 Wn. App. 

638, 642, 769 P.2d 873, review denied, 113 Wn.~d 1007 (1989)). 

B. RELIABILITY OF S.L.'s STATEMENTS 

Here, Hesselgrave contends that the court erred in finding S.L. competent to testify because 

the trial court did not properly consider the question of S.L.'s mental capacity at the time of the 

occurrence. We disagree with Hesselgrave. 

11 The Allen factors -im:il~de . 
(1) an understanding· of the obligation to speak the truth on the witness stand; (2) 
the mental. capacity at the time of the occurrence . · .. to receive. an accurate 
impression of [his testimony]; (3) a memory sufficient to retain an independent' 
recollection of the occurrence; (4) the capacity to express in words his memory of 
the occurrence; and (5) the capacity to understand simple questions about [the 
occurrence]. 

70 Wn.2d at 692. 
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Hesselgrave relies on In re Dependency of A.E.P., 135 Wn.2d 208, 223, 956 P.2d 297 

(1998) •. for the proposition that a trial court cannot determine a child's mental capacity when there 

is no evidence establishing when the crime occurred. But A.E.P. is distinguishable. There, the 

court concluded that after reviewing the entire record there was nothing establishing the date or 

. time period of the alleged sexual abuse. A.E.P., 135 Wn.2d at 223. 

But here, the record reveals that the alleged abuse happened either during the time S.L. 

lived with Hesselgrave, from December 2008 until September 2009, or during one night in the fall 

of 2010 when S.L. spent the night. Thus, the record does establish a general time period during 

which the alleged abuse .occurred, that was sometime l:>etween late 2008 .and the fall of 2010 when 

S.L. was either six, seven, or eight years old. 

In considering the Allen factors, the trial court here said, 

She has to have the capacity at the time, which was soine years ago, to 
receive accurate impressions of what was happening. I don't see. any reason to 
doubt that. She may not have a great ability to express it, and some of her 
statements appear to be somewhat inconsistent with each other. That d,oesn't mean 
she couldn't understand what was happening to her. A six-year-old is old enough. 

RP (Aug. 23, 2012) at 189. Accordingly, the trial court;s Written findings make clear that it 

considered whether S.L. was able to receive accurate impressions from the earlier of the two 

periods when she was six. And the court concluded that she could. 

Furthermore, if a child can relate contemporaneous events, the court can infer the child is 

competent to testify about the abuse incidents as well. A.E.P:, 135 Wn.2d at 225. Here, S.L. was 

able to describe events from 2007. S.L. was also able to testify accurately regarding circumstances 

surrotinding her time living with Hesselgrave in 2008 to .2009. Ling's testimony confirmed·the 
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truth of these statements. Accordingly, substantial evidence supports the trial court's finding that 

S.L. could receive accurate impressions during the period in which th~ events allegedly occurred. 

Again, relying on A. E.P., Hesselgrave argues that there are serious questions regarding the 

. potential impact of the therapy and interrogation S .L. underwent as the victim of a crime separate 

. and distinct from the current allegation. The court in A.E.P. held that the third Allen factor, '"a 

memory. sufficient to retain an independent recollection of the occurrence,'" may not be satisfied 

if the defendant can establish that a child's memory of events has been corrupted by improperly 

suggestive interviews. 135 Wn.2d at 230 (quoting State v. Allen, 70 Wn.2d 690, 692, 424 P.2d 

1021 (1967)). Hesselgrave discusses the fact that Anna Watson, who conducted a forensic 

interview of S .~. after unrelated abuse came to light, used positive reinforcement techniques when 

S.L. made disclosures ,and did not question the truth of what S.L. said, instead "validating'' the 

child's disclosures so that she would feel "good" if she made additional disclosures in the future. 

' But Hesselgrave.advances no argument regarding how use of these techniques amounts to 

. "improper interviews" nor does he suggest how particip.ation in a forensic interview unrelated to 
. . 

her current disclosure would "taint" S.L. 's memory such that the aforementioned Allen factor is 

unsatisfied. Given the record of S.L.'s testimony and the deference we afford the trial court's 

determination of competence, there is sufficient evidence to support the fmding that S.L. retained 

an independent recollection of the occwrence. 
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C. CORROBORATION 

Hesselgrave also argues that the trial court erred in admitting S .L. • s hearsay statements 

under RCW·9A..44.120 because there was insufficient corroboration to support those statementsP 

But the trial court did not err because S.L. was available to testify and in fact did testify at trial. 

Corroboration of the hearsay statements is required only if the child is unavailable to testify 

at trial. A.E.P., 135 Wn.2d at 226. And a child witnes~ is considered "unavailable" under the 

purview ofthe statute if she i~ deemed incompetent to teStify. A.E.P., 135 Wn.2d at 227. 

Here, the trial court properly found S.L. competent to testify and S.L. did testify. 

Accordingly, the trial court needed to find only that the time, content, and circumstances of S.L.'s 

statements provided sufficient indicia of reliability. The trial coun considered the Ryan factors 

. and entered findings determining that the statements were admissible. Thus, the trial court's 

rulings were not based on manifestly untenable grol.inds ·and the trial court did not abuse its 

12 RCW 9A.44.120 provides, 
A statement made by a child when under the age of ten describing any act of sexual 
contact performed with or on the child by another, describing any attempted act of 
sexual contact with or on the child by another, or describing any act of physical 
abuse of the child by another that results in substantial bodily hari:n as defined by 
RCW 9A.04.110, not otherwise admissible by statute or court rule, is admissible in 
evidence in dependency proceedings under Title 13 RCW and criminal 
proceedings, including juvenile offense adjudications, in the courts of the state of 
Washington if: 

(1) The court finds, in a hearing conducted outside the presence of the jury, 
that the time, content, and circumstances of the statement provide sufficient indicia 
of reliability; and 

(2) The child either: 
(a) Testifies at the proceedings; or 

. (b) Is unavailable as a witness: PROVIDED, That when the child is 
unavailable as a witness, such statement · may be admitted only if there is 
corroborative evidence ofthe act. 
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discretion in fmding that Hessel grave failed to rebut the presumption of competence and in ruling 

that S.L.'s hearsay statements were admissible under RCW 9A.44.120. 

Ill. PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT 

Hessel grave asserts that his conviction must be reversed because the prosecutor's closing 

argument suggested to the jury that acquittal ofHesselgrave was only possible by determining that . 

the State's witnesses were lying. We hold that the prosecutor's argument was not improper 

because it did not suggest that the jury must disbelieve S.L. in order to acquit Hesselgrave. 

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

To establish pros'ecutorial misconduct, Hesselgrave has the burden of establishing that the 

challenged conduct was both improper and prejudicial. State v. Cheatam, ISO Wn.2d 626, 652, 

81 P.3d 830 (2003). We review the prosecutor's conduct "b~ ex~g that conduct in the full 

trial context, including the evidence presented, the 'context of the total argument, the issues in the 

case, ·the evidence addressed in the argument and the instructions given to the jury."' State v. 

Monday, 171 Wn.2d 667, 675, 257 P.3d 551 (2011) (internal quotation marks omitted) (quoting 

State v. McKenzie, 157 Wn.2d 44, 52, 134 P.3d 221 (2006)). When a defendant objects to alleged 

misconduct at trial, the defendant must show that the prosecutor's misconduct resulted in prejudice 

that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury's verdict. State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 

760, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). 

B .. FALSECHOICE 

In closing argument, over defendant's objection, the .prosecutor told the jury that in the 

State's view there were only three possibilities to determine the outcome of the case: (1) that 
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someone coached S.L., (2)that S.L. made it up on her own, or (3) that S.L. was telling the truth.13 

To prevail, Hesselgrave must show that the alleged misconduct had a substantial likelihood of 

affecting the jury's verdict. Emery, 17 4 Wn.2d at 7 60. 

Here, Hes:;;elgrave characterizes the State's argument as misconduct based on the 

presentation of a "false choice," which occurs when a party misst~tes the. burden of proof, as well 

as the jury's role, by misleading the jury into thinking that acquittal requires the conclusion that 

the prosecution's witnesses are lying. Hesselgrave relies on State v. Barrow, 60 Wn. App. 869, 

809 P.2d 209, review denied, 118 Wn.2d 1007 (1991), State v. Miles, 139 Wn. App. 879, 162 P.3d 

1169 (2007), and State v. F1eming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), review denied, 131 

Wn.2d 1018 (1997), in support of his argument. 

But Barrow, Mtles, and Fleming are readily distinguishable from Hesselgrave's case 

because in each of the cited instances, the prosecutor actually told the jury that they must disbelieve 

the State's witnesses in order to acquit the defendant and here, no such statement was made. Miles; 

139 Wn. App. at 889-90; Barrow, 60 Wn. App. at 8'Z4-75; Fleming, 83 Wn. App. at 213. 

H.ere, the prosecutor presented the jury with three "possibilities," but he did not tell the jury 

that it i:nust agree with one. of those possibilities in order to acquit Hesselgrave. Indeed, the 

prosecutor did not tell the ju!y that they had to ·find anythin~. Read in context, the prosecutor's 

statements were more a comment on S.L.'s credibility, which the prosecutor has wide latitude to 

do in closing argument. State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 727, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997) (citing State 

v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51,94-95,.804 P.2d577 (1991)), cert. denied, 523 U.S. 1008 (1998). Some 

13 As a threshold matter, Hesselgrave objected after the prosecutor presented the "three 
possibilities" argument. Accordingly, Hesselgrave has preserved the issue for review. 
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ofth~ prosecutor's "Power Point" slides to which Hesselgrave takes issue support this proposition. 

The State used a slide that read, 

. . 

No Evidence to Support 
S.L. Made it up 

on Her Own 

Ex. 24 at 8. Following this slide was one that read, "One Conclusion (3) S.L. is telling the truth."· 

Ex. 24 at 8. This is not an argument that the jmy must disoelleve S.L. to acquit Hesselgrave, but·· 

rather that the evidence shows that the jury should believe S.L. because her vers~on o~the events 

is ~redible. We hold that the prosecutor's argument was not improper;. 

IV. COMMUNITY CUSTODY 

Hessel grave asserts that the sentencing court erred by imposing ·community custody 

condition numbers 13, 16, and 25 because these conditions are either unconstitutional or because 

the sentencing court was not statutorily authorized to impose them. We hold that the trial court · 

was without authority to impose conditions 13. 16, and 25 as they currently ~ead. · 

A defendant may argue for the first time on appeal that sentencing conditions placed on his 

community custody. were imposed without authority under existing statutes. State v. Jones, 118 

Wn. App. 199, 204, _76 P.3d 258 (2003). Whether ~o impose community custody conditions is 

within the discretion ofthe sentencing court and will be reversed only if manifestly unreasonable. 

State v. Bah!, 164 Wn.2d 739,. 753, 193 P.3d 678 (2008). Imposition of an unconstit:utional 

condition would be manifestly unreasonable. Bahl, 164 Wn.2d at 753. Similarly, a court abuses 

its discretion when it exceeds its sentencing authorl.ty. State v. C.D.C., 145 Wn. App. 621, 625, 

186 P.3d 1166 (2008). Furthermore, when a sentencing court imposes an unauthoriz~d condition 

of community custody, appellate com:ts remedy the error by remanding the matter with instructions 
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to strj.ke the unauthorized condition. State v. O'Cain, 144 Wn. App. 772, 775, 184 P.3d 1262 

(2008). 

The State concedes that we should remand to strike the phrase "'from a licensed 

physician''' contained in qondition 13 because prescriptions can be lawfully issued by medical 

professionals other than licensed physicians. Br. ofResp't at 73. We accept the State's concession 

because RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c) only allows a court order to direct an offender to "[r]efrain from 

possessing or consuming controlled substances except pursuant to lawfully issued prescriptions" 

and does not include a requirement that the prescriber be a "licensed physician." Accordingly, the 

court exceeded its sentencing authority in imposing condition 13. 

Hesselgrave also challenges condition 16 that provides, 

Do not initiate, or have in any way, physical contact with children under the age of 
18 for any reason, unless approved as per #14. above. Do not have any contact with 
physically or mentally vulnerable individuals. l14l · 

CP at 243. Hesselgrave contends that this condition :Was not statutorily authorized because his 

case inyolved no "physically or mentally .vulnerable individuals." CP at 243. RCW 

9.94A.703(3)(f) states that a court may order an offender to comply with any crime-related 

prohibitions. Additionally, the statute. allows a court to order that an offender refrain from direct 

or indirect contact· with the victim of the crime or a specified class of individuals. RCW 

9.94A.703(3)(b). Our Supreme Court has concluded that when read in context, a provision 

prohibiting contact with a class of individuals also requires some relationship to the crime. State 

14 Condition 14 states that any contact with minor children would need to be supervised and would 
require prior approval by the sexual deviancy treatment provider and the community corrections 
officer. · 
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v. Riles, 135 Wn.2d 326, 350, 957 P.2d 655 0998), overruled on other grounds by State v. 

Valencia, 169 Wn.2d 782, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010). Notwithstanding Hesselgrave's argument, the 

sentencing court erred by imposing this condition for the reasons we describe below. 

We recently analyzed an identical condition and held that the us~ of the term "vulnerable" 

fails to provide the safeguards ag~t arbitrary enforcement required by due process. State v. 

Johnson, 180 Wn. App. 318,327, 327 P.3d 704 (2014). We noted that, considering the definition 

of''vulnerable," the "breadth of [the condition] is startling."15 Johnson, 180 Wn. App. at 328. We 

held that remand was required and ordered the trial court to either clarify the meaning of 

"vulnerable" or to strike that portion ofthe condition. Johnson, 180 Wn. App. at 329. Therefore, 

we remand for the trial court to clarify the term ''vulnerable" or to strike condition 16. 

Last, Hesselgrave takes issue wi~ condition 25, which provides, 

Do not possess or peruse· any sexually explicit materials in any medium. Your 
sexual qeviancy ·treatment provider· will define sexually explicit material~ Do not 
patronize prostitutes or establishments that promote the commercialization of sex .. 
Also, do not possess or use any cell phone that may provide access to the Internet 
as well.· · 

· CP at 244. He~selgrave contend~ that the record does not support imposition of this condition 

because the case did not involve prostitution or "adult shops" and because the condition is 

unconstitutionally vague·. Forbidding Hesselgrave from possessing sexually explicit materials was 

. a crime-related prohibition because the record demonstrates that Hesselgrave showed S.L. sexually 

explicit material in print and video format and a sentencing court has broad discretion to impose 

reasonably crime-related conditions. O'Cain, 144 Wn. App. at 775. 

15 "Vulnerable" means "capable of being wounded: defenseless against injury" or "open to attack 
or damage: readily countered: inviting obvious retort, ridicule, or obloquy." WEBSTER'S THIRD 
NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 2567 (2002). 

21 



No. 44177-2-IT 

Similarly, the court did not err in imposing the provision prohibiting Hesselgrave from 

patronizing prostitutes.· In Washington, it is a misdemeap.or to patronize a prostitute. RCW. 

9A.88.110. Because trial courts are allowed to impose conditions requiring offenders to engage 

in law-abiding behavior, Jones, 118 Wn. App. at 205-06, 'and requiring that Hesselgrave not 

patronize prostitutes is consistent with law-abiding behavior, the trial court did not err by imposing 

these prohibitions contained within condition 25. 

But regarding the prohibition against going to establishments that promote the 

"commercialization of sex" and the prohibition on the use of a cell phone that is capable of 

accessing the internet, these are prohibitions that are not reasonably crime related. There is no 

evidence to suggest that such establishments were in any way related to Hesselgrave's crime. 

Likewise, nothing in the record reveals that cellular phones were involved in Hessel grave~ s crime. 

Moreover the court struck a separate condition that would have prohibited Hesselgrave from 

having internet' access generally, unless it was otherwise approved. It is unreasonable to strike that 

condltion but maintain the prohibition on the possession or use of a cellular phone which is capable · 

of accessing the internet. The prohibition on possession of sexually-explicit material in any 

medium would also cover possession of such material obtained from the internet on a c~ll phone. 

Considering the ubiquity of"smart" cellular phones ~d the pace at which the technology develops, 

this provision essentially bars Hesselgrave from owning a cellular phone at any time in the future. 

We hold that the trial court abused its discretion in imposing conditions 13, 16, and 25. We order 

these conditions stricken or clarified on remand, consistent with this opinion. 
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Finding no other prejudicial eiTor, we affinn the conviction and remand to coiTect the 

community custody conditions. 

A majority of the panel having detennined that this opinion will not be printed in the 

Washington Appellate Reports, but will be filed for public record in accordance with RCW 2.06.040, 

it is so ordered. 
,, 

. ..--~~~~c·~-· -~ 
We concur: 

.AL.:c.L~----MELNICK, J. J 

ib.t_,,_{!._z:__ 
HUNT, J.P.~. 
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